Syracuse University

SURFACE

Theses - ALL

December 2018

TURKISH MALE VIEWERS' PERCEPTIONS OF FEMALE SPORTSCASTERS: A CHAIR RESERVED FOR MEN?

Hamide Demet Akat Syracuse University

Follow this and additional works at: https://surface.syr.edu/thesis



Part of the Social and Behavioral Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Akat, Hamide Demet, "TURKISH MALE VIEWERS' PERCEPTIONS OF FEMALE SPORTSCASTERS: A CHAIR RESERVED FOR MEN?" (2018). Theses - ALL. 279.

https://surface.syr.edu/thesis/279

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by SURFACE. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses -ALL by an authorized administrator of SURFACE. For more information, please contact surface@syr.edu.

Abstract

This research explored perceptions of female sportscasters. More specifically, this study aimed to better understand how Turkish male television viewers perceive female sportscasters. Male hegemony established the theoretical basis to understand male domination that is prevalent in sports, media and also heavily in Turkish culture. Sexual objectification of women was also helpful to better understand the status of women working in the media industry. Semi-structured, qualitative in-depth interviews were used to gather data. Twenty-one interviews were done, transcribed, and analyzed. The findings of this research indicated the male hegemonic environment of sports and also sports media, in the eyes of the male audience members.

TURKISH MALE VIEWERS' PERCEPTIONS OF FEMALE SPORTSCASTERS:

A CHAIR RESERVED FOR MEN?

By

Hamide Demet Akat

B.A. Bogazici University, 2006

Thesis

Submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Arts in *Media Studies*

Syracuse University
December 2018

Copyright © Hamide Demet Akat 2018

All Rights Reserved

Acknowledgements

With an untiring hope for a better and peaceful world for all the children in the universe...

First and foremost, I am grateful to my advisor, Anne Osborne for her enormous support and continuing encouragement. I don't know how many times I cried off and then started over again. But she never gave up on me. I received generous support from her patience. She is a great advisor and also a wonderful person. It was a great honor to work with her.

I would like to thank my committee members Prof. Makana T. Chock and Prof. Brad Gorham for their encouragement and insightful comments. I would also like to express my special thanks to my defense chair Prof. Hub Brown for his contribution.

My sincere thanks also go to Prof. Carol Liebler and my friend Li Chen for helping me a lot and also for being special friends as a gift from my Orange days.

I would also like to express my appreciation to Saniye, Nilufer, Esin and Kelly for their friendships and important contributions.

I wish to thank my parents and my brother. I have no words to describe the meaning of their love and support.

Finally, last but not the least, I owe my deepest gratitude to my husband and my best friend Muzaffer and to my little sunshines Hilal, Ali and Omer. You are the best thing that's still happening to me.

CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction	1
Chapter 2: Literature Review	4
Male Hegemony	4
Male Hegemony in Turkish Society	5
Women on the Screen in News Media	6
Sexual Objectification of Women in Media	7
Women in Sports Media	9
Turkish Sports Media, Football, Women	10
Summary	12
Chapter 3: Method	14
Data Collection	14
Recruitment	15
IRB Procedure	16
Participants	16
Data Analysis	17
Chapter 4: Findings	19
Women sportscasters are on TV to attract male interest	19
Skepticism / Curiosity about if a woman can do it	21
Men are better in this field, especially in football	23
Proper sports that female sportscasters can be better at	25

Lack of former/familiar female sportscaster figures	28
Conclusion	32
Chapter 5: Discussion	33
Understanding the findings in the light of previous research	33
Limitations	36
Future Research	36
Appendix A: Interview Questions	38
Appendix B: Information About the Participants	39
References	40

Chapter 1: Introduction

In 2012, during a nationwide broadcast on the Turkish channel Haberturk, a former Turkish premier league soccer player Umit Ozat and a female sports anchor Simge Fistikoglu began a hard discussion about women sports fans. Ozat commented that any person of average intelligence would not accept that women know soccer as much as men. This dispute in the live show ended with Umit Ozat's leaving the show before the end. In the following days, there were similar discussions on TV about women and soccer. At the end, Umit Ozat apologized saying that he was misunderstood. It was very similar to the debate on women and football in USA in 2002 after CBS' 60 Minutes commentator Andy Rooney's words "a woman has no business being down there trying to make some comment about a football game." According to Sheffer and Schultz (2007), Rooney's comment reflected the attitude that women were unwelcomed in sports broadcasting.

There is a historical male domination in sports. As will be discussed in more detail in the following chapter, 'Sports is an institution created by and for men' (Messner & Sabo, 1990, p. 9). According to Messner (2012), the perception of sport as a space reserved for men, results in a biased approach towards women. Described as a social institution, sport reflects social values and is an "expression of the socio-cultural system in which it occurs" (Creedon, 1994, p. 3).

The Turkish Ministry of Family and Social Policy's Gender Equity National Movement Plan 2008-2013 suggested a similar interaction between the media and the society. The plan stated that the gender gap is reproduced in the media. The society and the media interact and solidify each other in Turkey (TDGSW, 2008), meaning that gender discrimination in the media

is not free from the gender discrimination in the society since the media professionals belong to the same structure.

When these two are combined, it is not surprising to see men dominate sports broadcasting (Etling & Young, 2007; Kane & Greendorfer, 1994). Although it may also be true for other fields in the broadcasting industry, sports media is still "the most male dominated space in US newsrooms" (Hardin & Shain, 2005). According to Women's Media Center's research "The Status of Women in the US Media 2017," women comprise only 13% of the entire sports staff (WMC, 2017). The situation of female sports media professionals is not any better in Turkey. For instance, by May 2018, all the sports news editors of the top ten Turkish daily newspapers are men. Additionally, there are no women on the editorial boards of the top three Turkish daily sports newspapers. This supports the fact that getting a position in sports media is a big challenge for women (for US Sheffer & Schultz, 2007; for Turkey Ozsoy, 2008). However, after the commercial TV channels were launched in Turkey in the early 90's, more women were employed for sports-casting or hosting positions in sports programs on TV (Ozsoy, 2008). But the use of a female figure on the sports screen is mainly for enriching the visuals (Akkaya & Kaplan, 2015). It is claimed in Ozsoy's (2008) research that the presence of women as a sportscaster on TV was the idea of the decision makers as they assumed that this would be a good move to increase the ratings by pleasing the male viewers. In line with these findings, a quick Google search on "kadin spor spikeri" meaning female sportscaster in Turkish, gives interesting results. By May 12, 2018 seven of the top ten items are about the beauty/attractiveness of the female sportscasters. On the other hand, Sheffer & Schultz (2007)'s study points out that some decision makers at TV stations do not want to hire female sportscasters thinking that male audience members, who are viewed as the main target of the

sports media, evaluate female sportscasters as less credible. It is true that the main consumer of the sports media in Turkey is men (RTUK, 2013). But what do they really think about the female sportscasters? Are they really pleased when there is a woman on TV talking about sports? The purpose of this study is to better understand how male audiences perceive female sportscasters in Turkey.

Women sportscasters is not a new topic for the academic literature, however, it has not been studied thoroughly in Turkey. Moreover, the existing literature about Turkish women sportscasters presumes that male audiences would be pleased when there is a woman on the screen. But it is not supported by an academic research yet. So, the findings of this study offer an important contribution to communications literature.

The following chapter will review the literature about the status of women in news media and then specifically in sports media. Male hegemony and the sexual objectification of women as the theoretical basis of the research will also be discussed in the context of sports and the Turkish society. Chapter 3 will provide the research design. Chapter 4 will demonstrate the major findings of the study. Chapter 5 will discuss the findings of the current study in the light of previous research, identify the limitations of the study and finally suggest future research.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

This chapter reflects the theory and the literature that this study is based on. To reiterate, the purpose of this research is to better understand how Turkish male TV audience members perceive female sportscasters. Male hegemony is the theoretical basis of this research since it is traditionally prevalent in sports, media and also in Turkish society, to which the participants of this study belong. Sexual objectification of women is also helpful to understand the status of women working in the media industry.

Male Hegemony

The concept of 'hegemony' was first deployed by Marxist sociologist Gramsci (1971) to explain how a powerful group in a society dominates the others. Connell (1987) expanded the same notion to gender and coined the term "hegemonic masculinity". Connell defined it as "the configuration of gender practice which embodies the currently accepted answer to the problem of the legitimacy of patriarchy" (1995 p.77).

The gender order brings in multiple masculinities (Connell & Messnerschmidt, 2005) that are continuously reproduced (Connell, 1998; Bird, 1996). Cultural values and ideologies are reflected in masculinities (Connell, 1995). The dominant masculinity is called hegemonic when there is socially accepted hierarchy among these masculinities (Connell & Messnerschmidt, 2005). Hegemonic masculinity is the idealized form of being a man that is appreciated by the society (Jewkes et al., 2015).

Hegemonic masculinity is the domination by men who hold the power over women and the subordinated men. Similarly, Jewkes and Morrell (2012) redefine the concept as the unequal organization of the society by men in power. Hegemonic masculinity creates an oppressive

gender order meaning that men are oppressed as well as women. However, although a small group of men practice the hegemonic masculinity, almost all men benefit from this practice as they receive the patriarchal dividend (Connell, 2005).

Male Hegemony in Turkish Society

The issue of male hegemony in Turkish society is a complicated matter; it has social, economic and political aspects. In order to put this complicated issue into some perspective it may be helpful to look at some recent numbers. According to the Global Gender Gap Report of the World Economic Forum in 2017, Turkey is 133rd in gender equality among 146 countries (Weforum, 2017). A significant discrepancy in work force participation is also observed between men and women. In 2016, employment rates for men and women are 65% and 28%, respectively (Turkstat, 2018). The level of participation in the workforce in the urban areas is even smaller for women. Comparatively speaking these numbers are well behind all European Union countries. For the educated women the rates are relatively high, but as the education level goes down the rate of joining the workforce outside the house drops considerably (Candas and Yilmaz, 2011).

Although the numbers mentioned above are relatively recent, the problem itself for Turkey is not something new. The women working outside the house is something unheard of before 19th century in the Turkish society. In the 19th century, with the development of the industrial agriculture (to some extent), women started working as a seasonal cheap labor force. Their introduction to the education system came much later, early to mid-20th century. For instance, the literacy rate was 47% for men and only 13% for women in year 1950 (Pamuk, 2008). The real jump in women's education happened in the second half of the 20th century; in fact the ratio of literacy for women was 45% in 1975 and 93% in 2016 (UNESCO, 2018).

The dramatic change in the role of women in Turkish society in the 20th century has a lot to do with the new state. The Republic of Turkey was founded in 1923. The first president and the founder of Turkey, Mustafa Kemal Ataturk tried to reshape the religious and traditional society inherited from the Ottoman reign, with a series of social, political and educational reforms and modernizations that were influential on women (Kabasakal et al., 2004). Unlike the indoor, veiled life of an Ottoman woman, an educated and unveiled woman living in the newly founded Turkey was expected to show up in public and private spheres (Gole, 1991). Turkish women were given equal political rights in 1934, which was before many modern countries. Women and men are equal in Turkish law, however, women are not able to exercise their citizenship rights as effectively as men (Arat, 2000). There are still some significant problems for women such as being less educated, less informed and poorer than men (Arat, 2000). Turkish society is described as patriarchal (Kandiyoti, 1995; Cosar & Yegenoglu, 2011; Mora, 2014), even becoming more patriarchal since the 1990s (Engin & Pals, 2018), and relying on Connell's (1995) argument this patriarchy secures the male domination in Turkish society.

Women on the Screen in News Media

The broadcast industry is very much concerned with newscast ratings (Weibel et al, 2008). Broadcasters compete for ratings, as the audiences have many TV channel options for watching news to be informed about what's going on today. All news stations have more or less the same news, except a few exclusive stories. In this situation, what makes TV channels preferable is their credibility (Weibel et al, 2008).

The credibility of mass media news is defined as the perception of how believably they reflect the events that news messages depict (Newhagen & Nass, 1989). The newscaster's credibility is significant in this process, as the person who delivers a message is one of the most

important factors in perceived credibility (Weibel et al, 2008; Engstrom, 1994). Newscasters are the "visible part of a broadcast" (Weibel et al, 2008), and they influence viewer's perceived credibility on TV news (Newhagen & Nass, 1989).

Given the fact that gender has an impact on the perception of credibility (Brann & Himes, 2010), a newscaster's gender influences the credibility of the newscaster as well as the credibility of the newscast (Weibel et al, 2008). Perceived credibility of male newscasters is higher than their female colleagues (Brann & Himes, 2010). Brann and Himes (2010) found out that male newscasters are rated as more credible than female newscasters in terms of competence, composure and extroversion. This is parallel with Weibel and his colleagues' study in 2008.

Sexual Objectification of Women in Media

Male and female newscasters are also evaluated unequally in terms of their physical appearance. The media depicts women in a sexually objectifying manner such that the focus is mainly on their physical look rather than their personality or abilities (Aubrey & Frisby, 2011; Baker, 2005). The same is true for the hiring strategy in the media industry. When the career developments of male and female newscasters are compared, it is seen that physical appearance plays an important role in female newscasters' career path (Engstrom & Ferri, 2001). The TV news industry wants to work with more attractive female newscasters (Grabe & Samson, 2011). However, the pressure about the better physical look may have some negative effects. The objectification of a woman means treating the female body as an object (Fredrickson & Roberts, 1997). If a woman internalizes the perspective of the others about her physical appearance, in other words if she adopts the objectifying gaze, then self-objectification occurs (Fredrickson & Roberts, 1997). The existing literature points out that self-objectification brings out some negative psychological consequences, such as depression or eating disorder (Fredrickson &

Roberts, 1997; Muehlenkamp & Saris-Baglama, 2002; Roberts & Gettman, 2004; Oehlhof et al., 2009) which may cause a decline in professional performance.

Moreover, female newscasters have to be more careful about their appearance since they are often criticized for what they wear, how their hair looks, and how thin or fat they seem on TV (Engstrom & Ferri, 1998). Managers and viewers alike often comment on female newscasters' appearance rather than their professional skills (Engstrom & Ferri, 1998). However, along with negative comments, positive compliments on a woman's look increases the woman's body-dissatisfaction (Calogero et al., 2009). Plus, compared to men, women are significantly more likely to compare their facial features and their body shape to their peers and also to the ones whom they perceive to be better looking, which is called upward comparison (Franzoi et al. 2012). Appearance comparison, especially upward comparison makes women more dissatisfied about their body (Leahey et al., 2007). Since body-dissatisfaction is negatively correlated with self-confidence, the huge stress on a female newscaster's appearance may cause a distraction for her professional career.

Aging is another factor affecting male and female newscasters differently. Female newscasters get more comments on their age (Engstrom & Ferri, 1998). TV stations tend to hire young female newscasters (Grabe & Samson, 2011). The assumption behind the news industry's negative approach to older female newscasters is that women anchors draw less audience by their mid-thirties (Grabe & Samson, 2011). However, aging has a positive effect on male newscasters; older male newscasters are perceived as being the most credible (Weibel et al, 2008). Tiggemann and Lynch (2001) found out that self-objectification and appearance anxiety of a woman tend to decrease after their 20's and 30's. But, as mentioned, it is more difficult for a woman to get a newscasting position after that age.

Women in Sports Media

Sports have been a site where masculinities are defined and reproduced (Connell, 1995; Messner, 1992). According to Naison (1980), dominant masculine ethos in a society is reflected in sports. Masculine characteristics such as strength, speed and the drive to win are appreciated in sports so much so even non-athlete men identify themselves with these qualities. (Fasteau, 1980).

Sports media are also a place where male domination is affirmed in gender order and the social construction of masculinities is reflected (Connell, 1987; Messner, 1988). "Women in sports are both a social reality and a social anomaly" (Harris, 1980; p. 223). Although this was stated for female athletes, it also corresponds to the situation of women in sports media as "the idea that a woman writing about sports is unnatural" (Hardin & Shain, 2005, p.22).

As discussed in the previous section, male and female newscasters are not treated equally by the broadcasting industry (Weibel et al., 2008), this is even truer for sports journalists. Several studies have documented how female sportscasters are perceived differently than their male colleagues (Etling et al., 2011; Etling & Young, 2007; Allen, 2003; Ordman & Zillmann, 1994). Ordman and Zillmann (1994) pointed out the gender inequality in sports media stating that "gender is an asset for a man but a liability for a woman" to be accepted as an expert in this field. They claim that female sports reporters are perceived as less persuasive, less informed and less competent compared to male reporters. Etling and Young (2007) found that male listeners rated male sportscasters as more authoritative than female sportscasters. These negative perceptions of female journalists were reflected in the fictional prime time TV series, *Sports Night*, where sportscasters were the main characters of the show. As a result of a textual analysis, Painter and Ferruci (2012) point out the unprofessional, ineffectual and male-dependent portrayal of female sportscasters.

Sheffer and Schultz (2007) examined hiring strategies of news directors working at local TV stations. One of the interesting findings of this study is that older male news directors were not eager to hire female sportscasters since they assumed that the audience would perceive female sportscasters as less credible. However, this negative managerial attitude may change with feminine beauty. Physical looks are more important than sports knowledge for a woman to be hired as a sportscaster resulting in a shorter career track since attractiveness may be lost as a woman ages (Sheffer & Schultz, 2007).

All in all, female sports staffers encounter discrimination and sexual harassment (Hardin & Shain, 2005; Miller & Miller, 1995) not only in a locker room but also in the work place.

Turkish Sports Media, Football, Women

In light of the previous research, one may conclude that the sports casting chair is reserved for men in the US. But how about Turkey? Do the audience members follow the decisions of the decision makers? Could there be any room for women as sportscasters in a more gender-unequal country? It is interesting to replicate such research in a Turkish context since Turkey, as a country geographically located between Europe and Asia, can be described as a "land of contradictions that is caught between East and West and tradition and modernity" (Giorgi, 2014, p. 123). In the United States, the first female radio anchor, Susan Stamberg (NPR, 2010) and the first female coanchor, Barbara Walters (Britannica, 2018) showed up in 1970s. However, in Turkey, the first female radio news anchor, Emel Gazimihal, started to work for Ankara Radyosu (Ankara Radio Station) in 1937 (BBC, 2009). Moreover, the first television broadcast in 1968 started with the announcement of a female anchor, Nuran Devres (TRT, 2018). Most of the research cited above, examining the situation of women in news and sports media, was conducted in the United States. When it comes to Turkish media, the literature is extremely poor regarding research on the

perceptions women sportscasters – to the author's knowledge this is the only one. This section considers the gendered milieu of Turkish sports media to better understand the perceptions of women sportscasters.

Arslan and Koca (2006), content analysis on representation of women athletes in Turkish daily newspapers in 2004, found out that only 9% of total sports news examined were about women athletes. Bakan (2014) analyzed the sports news in top three Turkish daily newspapers in a month period in 2011 and discovered a similar result that the number of the news about female athletes were fewer than the number of the news about male athletes. Buyukafsar's (2016) content analysis of the top two Turkish sport dailies, Fotomac and Fanatik echoed the findings of the aforementioned research. He underlined that nearly all of the news were about male athletes and/or men's teams. It was also highlighted that the success of male athletes was supported via glorifying expressions on their masculinities whereas the success of the female athletes was devalued via ordinary wordings (Buyukafsar, 2016). Bakan (2014) discussed the possible reasons of the dominance of men's sports coverage and he mentioned about the male hegemony in the decisionmaking mechanism of the Turkish media. When it is considered that there are no women as sports editors in highly circulated newspapers in Turkey, one may conclude that Turkey follows the same pattern as the US in terms of giving limited chance to women to join leadership and decisionmaking process in sports and sports related organizations (Ozbey & Guzel, 2011).

Sports means football in Turkey. The public surveys made by GENAR in 2004 and by Turkish Football Federation in 2005 showed that the most popular sports in Turkey is football. So, it is not surprising to see football as the dominant sports in print media (Ozturk et al., 1996; Ozsoy, 2011). Buyukafsar (2016) noted that 3029 news articles were on football out of the 3463 sports

news articles he examined in the top two sports newspapers. In other words, sports reporters predominantly cover football news (Cimen & Ilhan, 2007).

The same domination of football is observed on television. The first live football game was broadcasted by the state-based Turkish Radio and Television (TRT) in 1971 (Cakar, 2016). After the launch of the commercial channels in the 1990s, football games were shown on different channels until the broadcasting rights of the premier league matches were sold to Cine-5 for the season 1996-1997 for \$40 million. Today, the broadcasting right is on Digiturk (with its new name 'beinsports-tr') for yearly \$500 million (Cakar, 2016). However, since football games are seen as a good way of increasing a TV station's ratings (Guler & Demir, 1995), many TV channels produce football programs. Mostly, men take place on football shows such that Ozsov (2014) made a research on 28 televised football programs and he pointed out that among 101 people consisting the TV hosts, former players and former referees, only two were women. Participants of the same study opined that these shows mostly address male audience members because watching a football game is also reserved for men (Erhart, 2016). It is a natural result of football being a men's game in Turkey (Bora, 2007; Erdogan, 2008; Talimciler, 2017). Football is effective in constructing masculine identities (Talimciler, 2017). Football defines masculinity as being strong, competitive, brave, etc. and reproduces the gender discrimination in the society (Erdogan, 2008). Erhart's (2011) study on a female fan group shows how hard it is to enter the masculine environment of football even as a female fan in Turkey.

Summary

In Turkey, sports and sports media mostly mean football, which is played by men, refereed by men and watched by men. In this heavily male hegemonic environment, women sportscasters are on the upswing especially after the launch of the commercial TV channels. As it is discussed in the

review of the existing literature, male hegemony creates gender inequality. Studies made in the US highlighted a segregation among the perceptions of women sportscasters and men sportscasters. Male sportscasters are seen as the norm and the audience perceives them to be more credible, while women on screen are valued according to how they look. The decision makers in the broadcasting industry sexually objectify women on the screen as they want to hire beautiful and young women to appeal to male audiences.

So, the research question that was explored is as follows:

RQ1: How does the Turkish male TV audience members perceive female sportscasters?

RQ1a: Are they believed to be less credible than male sportscasters?

RQ1b: How do male audience members interpret attractiveness of female sportscasters?

Chapter 3: Method

The purpose of this study was to explore how male audience members perceive female sportscasters. In-depth interviews were used for data collection. Data was thematically analyzed using Dedoose software. In this chapter there will be the details of the research design.

Data Collection

Semi-structured, in-depth, qualitative interviews were used as the means of data collection in this research since the nature of the method and the purpose of the study were a good match. In-depth interviews can be described as a "discovery-oriented" method that enables a deep exploration on how people think and feel about an issue (Guion, Diehl & McDonald, 2001). In-depth interviews are effective for research where the focus is attaining detailed enlightenment from a participant's thoughts (Boyce and Neale, 2006). In other words, the main goal in choosing this method is knocking the closed doors of Turkish sports viewers behind which "there is a world of secrets" (Oakley, 1981).

A semi-structured guide (Appendix A) was followed as a general format for the interviews. With the help of this general format, consistency in the main points discussed with the participants could be achieved. These primary questions were open-ended to enable natural emergence of themes. Semi-structured interviews also allowed natural flow of conversation and spontaneous sub-questions that varied according to each participant. Since trust is a fundamental issue in this method (Brennen, 2013), there was a wide room for ice-breaking questions at the beginning. Each interview started with ice-breaking questions about the participant's favorite team, interests or hobbies. Recent sports news was also helpful for the researcher to gather data about each participant before the interview. Their opinions about the recent sports news helped

the researcher "to understand the language, customs and culture of each person" (Brennen, 2013, p.31).

All interviews were audio taped. The research process continued with transcribing these interviews according to Kvale's (1996) outline. The researcher's observations about the interview and the interviewee were also noted. Each interview was transcribed in a short time after the interview when it was still fresh in the researcher's mind.

Recruitment

This research focuses on sports viewers' opinions about the female sportscasters. Most of the viewers of television sports are male (for US Gantz & Wenner, 1991; for Turkey Ozsoy, 2008). This is also reflected in research conducted by The Radio and Television Supreme Council in Turkey (RTUK) in 2013. NTV/NTV SPOR was rated as the most popular TV channel by 45.8 % of the sports viewers who participated in the research (RTUK, 2013). NTV SPOR was still on air when the interviews were done. (The channel was sold and closed in March 2018). The viewer profile of NTV SPOR was described as male sports fan over the age of 25 (NTV, 2015). Therefore, I recruited Turkish male sports fans over the age of 25. My primary recruitment strategy was using my personal contacts. Snowball sampling was also helpful to increase the sample size and to reach more diverse participant profile. I conducted twenty-two interviews. I discarded one of the interviews as it did not contain any insights since the participant preferred to talk about his own sport experiences all through the interview rather than answering the questions. I found twenty-one of the interviews useful. The recruitment process stopped there since I met the concept of saturation, (Creswell, 2013) at which no new themes emerged. As detailed below, the data was analyzed during the interview process as well as after the verbatim

transcription. I did and transcribed all interviews in Turkish. I translated the excerpts into English with the help of a professional translator.

IRB Procedure

Since human subjects were needed to participate in this study, an application was submitted to Institutional Review Board of Syracuse University for research exemption. The purpose of the study and research method were stated in the application form. An informed consent form and also tentative interview questions along with their Turkish translations were added to the application form. I received Approval by the Institutional Review Board in March 2015. Each interviewee was informed about his rights to end the interview whenever he wants through the consent form that was read to him prior to the interview.

Participants

As this study investigates the perception of male audiences about the female sportscasters, all interviewees were men. The most popular sports TV channel in Turkey at the time of the interviews was NTVSpor, and as mentioned, the station claimed that its target audience profile was male viewers above 25 years old. Accordingly, the set of participants were all chosen to be males who are older than 25 years old. Among those participants, ten were in the age group 25-40, eight were in the age group 40-60, and the remaining three were above 60 years old.

All participants were interested in watching sports on TV, such as games, sports news, pregame/post-game commentaries, etc. The average time they spent on watching these activities is about 6 hours per week.

Among the twenty-one participants, seven did not have a college degree; two are college drop outs; five have college degree from distance learning programs; seven have a college degree

or higher. Detailed information about the year of birth and the education level of each participant may be found in Appendix B.

The entire interview process took about three months after the interview guide had been tested with two preliminary interviews. Each interview took around 30-35 minutes on the average. However, the participants with lesser education levels were found to be shy in the beginning. They tended to give short answers. They became more talkative and forthcoming after the first half an hour. Hence, those interviews took more than 45 minutes most of the time.

Data Analysis

The data analysis process started during the interviews. Especially after the first few interviews, it was easier to interpret the information. Following Kvale's (1996) advice, field notes and non-verbal cues such as sighs, hesitations, laughter, or stuttering were also used for interpretation as well as verbatim transcripts.

Transcripts were coded according to the highlighted key phrases using Dedoose software. Data coding was helpful to thematically analyze the overall data. Once all the themes came clearly on the scene, the researcher was ready for the next step in Kvale's (1996) outline, writing up the findings of this research. Quotes that would be used as proof of themes in the Findings were translated into English by the researcher and these translations were cross-checked by a professional translator to be sure that there was no loss of meaning during the translation process.

Role of the Researcher

I was hesitant before starting the interviews as a woman researcher asking men about a gender issue. I planned to begin interviews by myself and the back-up plan was asking for help from a male-interviewer if I observed any shyness of the participants. However, most of the interviewees were very comfortable to speak out their actual ideas about women sportscasters. Only a few participants were not talkative at the beginning. In this regard, I felt myself lucky having advanced interviewing skills thanks to five years of professional experience. Creswell (2013) argues that the researcher's ability in asking questions is the key factor in the quality of an interview. I spent more time on the warm up questions until my participants felt themselves relaxed. So, I did not need any help with conducting the interviews at the end.

I also took the advantage of conducting the interviews in my native language and in my home country. As a Turkish person, I know the cultural norms of the society very well. These all helped me to overcome the limitation of being a woman asking men about their thoughts on women sportscasters.

Chapter 4: Findings

This chapter presents the main findings of the study. Based on Owen's (1984) thematic analysis, five key themes are found. Each will be presented in detail along with the quotes that exemplify the theme. It is important to note that soccer and football used interchangeably throughout this study.

Women sportscasters are on TV to attract male interest

All participants expressed the idea that the main reason that the women are on TV sports programs is to attract the male audience.

I think only man's commentary makes sense. When they put women on screen, it is more like to attract viewers. (Participant 4)

As I said, it looks very unnatural, I do not watch them, I never prefer it. It is too obvious why she is there. Now we live in a capitalist order where money is everywhere and unfortunately women are used as marketing agents and as a tool and they are viewed as such. I mean it is like they produce a program and see who among women can present that program. That is how I feel. Of course, there are exceptions but I think this is so in general. (Participant 9)

Although it was not directly asked, most of the participants highlighted the possible impact of the physical beauty of a female sportscaster on male audience.

I think they are on screen because their looks are effective. Channels pay attention to that. (Participant 14)

One participant claimed that if the main reason of a female sportscaster to be on TV is her beauty, this will bring a shorter career compared to a man since female beauty doesn't last.

I think her career will be short. I do not know. Generally, women's faces become outdated pretty fast and they replace them with a younger and charming one. In male hosts, handsomeness might prevail for a long time. I mean it does not disappear easily. And also there is this point. What is the rationale of putting women on screen? It means prioritizing their appearance. Therefore, it will not last long. I mean, women are on screen for a reason. Think about it like this. For example, there are 20 people who are experts in a field. If there is a woman among them, you can select the woman but is the woman the best among them? I think it is of low possibility. As a field of expertise. (Participant 8)

Another participant said that he is aware that woman are used to attract viewers but he still prefers to get sports news from a beautiful woman as all the channels give more or less the same news.

Since sports is in the field of men's interest and since football is what comes to mind when we say sports in our country, women are used to grab interest. They use women as a tool to attract interest on screen; this is a fact. They want to exploit this. When you go to car showroom or to an auto-show you will see more women than cars. I mean when I watch a women sports speaker I am aware that she is on screen because of ratings but still it feels attractive. Because there are many channels broadcasting the same newsthere are many channels- why not listen to news from a beautiful woman? If there are two cars going to the same place; one is well-kept and clean the other is not well-kept, why not prefer the well-kept one? (Participant 18)

Skepticism / Curiosity about if a woman can do it

All participants emphasized that the main reason for them to watch a female sportscaster is to see whether she can do it or not. It is important to note that they do not express this kind of skepticism about male sportscasters during the interviews.

I look to see whether a woman can do it or not. I have not seen anything like that but I think if I see a woman on the screen while I am switching channels, I will have a look to see if she can. (Participant 2)

Of course, I would watch a female sportscaster. It would pique more interest. I would have a look to see if she could manage it (laughs) honestly. (Participant 13)

It would grab my attention. What kind of a program is she presenting? What kind of a preparation has she made? What kind of phrases does she use? These naturally grab my attention. (Participant 17)

One participant stated that he does not question the knowledge of a male sportscaster whereas he does when it comes to a female sportscaster.

When a woman presents one wonders whether she is knowledgeable, whether she can present or not, how she presents or who she is. When it is a man, one does not wonder thinking that he already knows or if the news he presents is interesting, I then pay attention. If not, I switch channels for example. (Participant 12)

Some of the participants highlighted the negative impact of a female sportscaster's beauty. What they report shows that there is a negative correlation between the beauty and the knowledge in how they perceive female sportscasters.

I would have a look, of course I would. I would wonder if this woman's knowledge is equal to her beauty or if she is highlighted due to her beauty. (Participant 13)

Yes, I would stop and at least have a look to see how she speaks. Is she really knowledgeable? What is her relation to the topic or is she there just because she is pretty? I look at that. (Participant 14)

But when I see a beautiful woman I hesitate about her knowledge. First I say beautiful girl and watch and then I look at her knowledge. If she is not knowledgeable then I do not watch it and switch channels. (Participant 18)

A few interviewees remarked that a female sportscaster has to prove herself to overcome this negative impact.

At first there might be some prejudice due to her beauty but the way to overcome that prejudice lies in the ability of that woman. If she can demonstrate her ability, then all of those prejudices will disappear. (Participant 11)

When there is someone I am not used to on screen, someone not known, especially a woman, um, first I expect her to prove her football knowledge. (Participant 20)

Two participants were still interested in "woman gaze" in sports although they thought that women know less.

But I would like to watch her comments more. For example, how she views the cards, yellow cards and red cards in football from the perspective of a woman. I wonder what she thinks about that. (Participant 12)

I watched a little bit. I mean it is like..., it is like football from a woman's eyes. I watched a few times. Compared to the programs presented by men, those shows presented by a female sportscaster are lighter. Women are talking about the thing they know about football and trying to create the image that they understand football. (Participant 14)

Men are better in this field, especially in football

Another theme that was overwhelmingly present amongst all the interviews was the idea that men are obviously better in sports media.

Let me tell the truth. Since it is sports, women remain a bit weak. Of course there are more males such as the commentators who grew up in this field or the footballers and their commentary is a little bit different.

Researcher: So, if you compare men and women?

For me, I think men are better. I do not know. But sure I also watch women. Indeed, I do.
(Participant 1)

Some participants talked about the male standard as a benchmark in this field and they remarked that it is hard for a woman to reach this level.

Um, as I said, a woman's understanding, commentary style, namely her presentation style and knowledge, these are all effective. (Interviewer's note: It is clear that he is mumbling what he is trying to say)

Researcher: What if you compare men and women?

I do not think women are as good as men (laughs, relieved). (Participant 3)

Once I watched a game that was play-by-play announced by a woman. I listened, she did it but for a woman. It is not up to the standards of men. (Participant 18)

In most of the interviews, participants interpreted "sports" as if it only means soccer.

Once they started to talk about soccer, they emphasized that this is a world for men from which women have to keep away.

Well, they cannot do in football. They cannot be as successful as a man in sports in football, because football is man's business and thus the commentator/sportscaster needs to be a man. I mean, I have seen a few women and some of them are good but I do not know their names but they are good. But I think men are more successful. (Participant 5) In Turkey, in general sports mean football... football is a man's game... I feel it is better if the commentator/sportscaster is a male. (Participants 12)

Women should not commentate football games definitely; they should stay away from football. Because women cannot give the excitement that we are used to. (Participant 18)

Participant 2 claimed that men are more successful since they "experience a soccer game better", they "live the match" so that they broadcast it better than a woman.

Some interviewees stated that a man's voice is a better match for a sports broadcast.

Yes, in sport commentary there is a male dominance. This is very appropriate because of the tone of voice. Because women's voices are high pitched and it can be disturbing when it gets exciting. (Participant 11)

Women also cannot shout. I mean, high pitch affects because it is acute. I mean saying goaaal from your throat is different from saying goaal (Note: with a very soft, girlish

tone). Does it not affect people? It of course does. It even affects you as a woman. I think.

(Participant 3)

I mean our ears are accustomed to voice of that tone. It feels as if if the commentator is a man we can understand and think better. Of course, a woman's voice is also nice but their commentary style might attract more interest in different fields and topics I guess. In other words, I think that voice would suit topics other than sports better. (Participant 13)

Proper sports that female sportscasters can be better at

The common idea is that a male sportscaster can broadcast any sports but there are only some proper ones for a female sportscaster. Even some of the interviewees who said they were totally indifferent between watching a male and a female sportscaster at the beginning, started to reveal their preference after they were asked to pick a male or female sportscaster for specific sports. According to the participants, soccer should be covered by male sportscasters. As it was also a part of the previous theme, the underlying reason for this outcome was that the participants see football as a world for men.

I think football can be presented best by a man for now. (Participant 2)

I think a woman should not commentate football. Because since football is male-dominant, she might present a football program but I do not think it is good for her to commentate a football match. (Participant 14)

In general, I mean right now, football is watched all around Turkey. Truth be told, football is a man's game. I mean if it were skiing or handball, you can watch it if a woman commentates but when it is football, there is something missing. (Participant 3)

Men should play and present football. (Participant 18)

One of the participants made an interesting commentary on why female sportscasters are not appropriate for covering football. He claimed that the nature of a woman and the nature of football are contrasting.

The reason for football to be loved very much is that it is a very easy job. Women care a lot about details. The nature of women does not overlap with the nature of football.

Women are very successful in parts that are related to details. Statistics, assistant referee... honestly. (Participant 21)

All the participants had a consensus on volleyball as the most appropriate sport for female sportscasters. Some interviewees support their ideas with recollecting the success of women's volleyball in Turkey.

Volleyball, it is for women. You know in volleyball our biggest achievement came from women. I think a woman host will fit very well in volleyball. (Participant 8)

Volleyball can be female. I have something like this in my mind. I think women's volleyball is better than men's volleyball by a notch. What I see in that sport is that women impress. (Participant 2)

Women should play and present volleyball. (Participant 18)

Some participants believed that the gender segmentation for what sport should be covered by whom is based on the nature of the sports.

When you rationalize, volleyball or um tennis, those kinds of things, women can present them. But tougher, more reactionary (meaning more action-packed) sports such as football, I think a more masculine voice fits them better. (Participant 4)

For example, volleyball, tennis. Women can present them. But football includes some violence, some swearing. Thus I do not see it suitable for women but as I said in calmer sports, I think women can also be good. I mean they can do the others as well but they cannot be successful. (Participant 5)

A woman can commentate tennis or ice-skating. These will look good. Basketball is not OK for example because I think sports with high adrenaline are not for women. Because women are emotional creatures. But there is no room for emotion in football. The birth of football stems from gladiators. People who once enjoyed bloody shows and relaxed now replace them with football.

Well, which feeling does tennis have for a woman to commentate it?

Well tennis is a romantic sport. It is an aesthetic sport. I cannot say there is emotion in volleyball but it does not suit a man. (Participant 18)

Volleyball is OK. Figure skating might be OK too. Ummm, winter Olympics might be OK too for a woman but football does not make me feel, ummm I mean I feel a woman cannot give that speed and excitement but maybe I am wrong. (Participant 19)

Yet, tennis can be female, yes, it can be female. Perhaps because it is a more stable sport.

(Participant 2)

Some interviewees claimed that the dominant gender of the athletes playing one sport should be mirrored on the gender preference of the sportscaster covering that sports.

If the players are women, then there should be more women. Both the commentator and the host can be women. This happens in volleyball and basketball but not in football because there are not women's teams in football. (Participant 7)

Cycling is definitely a man's sport. (...) The one who does that sport more should present it. For example, can there be women in ice hockey or wrestling? I mean wrestling is known as a man's sport, similarly ice hockey. (Participant 8)

Lack of former/familiar female sportscaster figures

All participants were found to be quite acquainted with male sportscasters. Most of the participants called male sportscasters easily by their names. During the interviews Serhat Ulueren, Gultekin Onay, Ilker Yasin, Erdogan Arikan, Yalcin Cetin and Ercan Taner were frequently mentioned male sportscasters. On the contrary, the participants had a hard time coming up with a name of a female sportscaster. Burcu Esmersoy was the only one who was mentioned. It is important to note that Esmersoy was the second runner up in the beauty contest, Miss Turkey, in 1997.

There are some repeating key words such as *habit*, *perspective on women*, *etc*. that reflects that the societal norm is based on men on sports screen. The participants explicitly and repeatedly stated that they were used to seeing men in sports media so much so it has become a norm or a cliché for the viewers.

Well, there is an established norm for us, a sports host is a male. I mean our perspective on women is a bit different. It is about training oneself and getting oneself accepted.

(Participant 8)

Most of the participants opined that it would be a little strange to see a female sportscaster on TV. In other words, according to them, women misfit in sports-casting chair.

It does not change depending on their being male or female, actually I don't care that much but I find it a bit strange, I mean women narrators, women as sportscaster. It might be due to habits. (Participant 14)

Um, it has become a norm for a man to commentate a football match and playing or announcing football does not suit a woman. (Participant 18)

It was observed that most of the participants immediately relates women with their domestic roles and their domestic roles only. Participant 2's answer gives a clue that there is a bold line between the social roles of a man and a woman. In the society, women are not appreciated for going beyond this line. Same is true for a man.

I prefer male anchors. One part of it is good, I mean it is a norm. Women generally cook, men also cook but women cook better. Nobody says, "my father cooks well". My father cooked well but nobody says that their father cooks well. They say, "my mother cooks well". (Participant 2)

Some of the participants said that they were not opposed to the idea of a female sportscaster however they said they do not know how it would be.

Hmm, women can present all, can present football too, I am not making a distinction. But we do not have such a habit or experience in our past and thus it does not seem fitting.

But if we had such experiences it would be better. I do not know what will happen in the future. (Participant 12)

Well, I would immediately think 60% man. Because our eyes and ears have been accustomed to men in this field for years. I mean it feels like it suits a man better but a woman might do. There are female professionals as well as male ones who can commentate. I want them to be on this stage. (Participant 13)

Some of the interviewees said it is even hard to imagine listening to a football game playby-play announced by a female sportscaster. There were contradicting thoughts or guesses about whether they would like it or not.

Honestly, I have not seen a woman commentating a football match. I am trying to imagine, um, probably it will not be very interesting, I have only imagined it now. It would be very odd to compare the commentary of Ercan Taner (Note: a senior well known sportscaster) with that of a woman. (Participant 2)

Lack of former experience of watching a woman on sports screen feeds into the bias against women being an acceptable fit in this position. For instance Participant 4 thinks that any woman cannot remain calm during a commentary even though he concedes that he has never experienced this before.

I mean since I did not hear it (from a woman) I do not know how to react. If I listened to it once, or if I encountered it and listened to it for 15 minutes I could comment on it now but since I have not listened to it I do not know what my reaction would be at that

moment or whether I would like it or not. Everyone has different tastes. I like to listen to a calm commentary for example but since I do not listen to those, I do not know.

(Participant 4)

Listening to a woman commentate a match. For example, if it is on a radio, I would listen to it, it would be nice and interesting. It would probably be like a meal I have never tasted. (Participant 12)

Another interesting outcome was the thoughts of some of the participants on shorter career tracks of some female sportscasters. They contend that women use sports media as a way to further a career in television and that they use their beauty to get this position. These negative evaluations of women's motives are the main reason they offer for their negative perceptions of female sportscasters.

They bring a beautiful woman for a few episodes, she stays for a while but then leaves and goes to somewhere else and then it is over. But if they bring a dignified woman and if she continues for a few years and made herself known then people will say oh, yes and so on. For instance, why do people love Ridvan Dilmen (Note: Mr Dilmen is a former premier league football player and shows up on TV as a commenter for a long while) a lot? He is a sport writer who has been talking moderately for years. (Participant 4) But the ones we see on screen are models etc. and that is one of the reasons why we have negative thoughts on this. (...) I think the women who have improved and equipped themselves will be more successful. But how about the ones who are on TV because of their beauty? What will happen in the future? It leads to a short term career. In that

respect I think it is more important for sports anchors to be permanent and satisfying rather than being temporary. (Participant 17)

There is no one doing this for more than two years. They appear on screen for three months and then they jump to a different field, to a different branch. Do you know any woman who has done this job for more than three or four years? No. I do not know anyone. (Participant 14)

Conclusion

The findings show that the participants perceive male and female sportscasters differently. The participants said that attractiveness is a credit for a woman to be a sportscaster on TV. They also stated that a beautiful woman effectively gets men's attention. On the other hand, good looks undercut a female sportscaster's perceived credibility.

Another important outcome was that the participants said that they never trust the knowledge of a female sportscaster in advance and they want to see whether she can do it or not. It is important to note that they never question a male sportscaster's knowledge. The interviewees claim that men are obviously better in sports-casting. They had some kind of sports in their minds that could be proper for female sportscasters. On the contrary, they believe that there is no problem for a male sportscaster to cover any sports. The final theme emerged as the lack of former female sportscaster figures and the participants complained about women who see sports-casting as an effective step for their TV career.

Although it is clear that the participants had some prejudice against female sportscasters, there are still some clues that this prejudice can be broken in time. All these findings will be discussed in the light of the previous research at the final chapter.

Chapter 5: Discussion

The purpose of this research was to examine how Turkish male sports viewers perceive female sportscasters. Five themes emerged as a result of the data analysis. This chapter will provide an interpretation of these findings and its relevance to the previous research. There will be also some recommendations for future studies.

Understanding the findings in the light of previous research

All of the participants seemed to be quite sure that 'men are better in this field'. It shows that viewers perceive male and female sportscasters differently. This concurs with previous studies (Etling et al., 2011; Etling and Young, 2007; Toro, 2005; Allen, 2003; Ordman and Zillmann, 1994). It is clear that male hegemony and male dominance extends from sports fields to the media representations of anchors, and the latter is solidified by the former. Male sportscasters are perceived as better in advance and as Ordman and Zillmann (1994) point out "gender is an asset for a man but a liability for a woman" when it comes to being accepted as a sports media expert.

'Skepticism/ Curiosity about if a woman can do it,' suggests that the most important reason for men to watch a female sportscaster is to see whether she can succeed or not. Most of the participants claimed that a female sportscaster should first prove her knowledge to be watched. This is in line with Caglar (2013)'s finding about the media representation of women candidates in another male dominated area, politics, in Turkey. Women candidates' capability is questioned whereas the same is not true for a man. One may suggest that women are forced to bear the burden of proving themselves when they enter into a male hegemonic area.

Another theme that was apparent in the data was that 'women sportscasters are on TV to attract male interest'. According to the interviewees female sportscasters' looks are effective in

their careers. However, it is found that the good looks of a female sportscaster and the trust for her knowledge are inversely correlated. This mirrors the finding of Toro (2005) that the attractiveness of a female sportscasters makes the audience members think that her appearance was the only reason for her employment. It is clear that the structured binary position between knowledge and beauty reinforces male hierarchy and the sexual objectification of women.

The physical look or beauty of a female sportscaster is effective at first glance to grab the attention and to keep male viewers tuned to a channel for a while when a viewer is surfing TV channels. However, putting a woman in the sports casting chair is not enough for higher ratings as most of the participants say that it is not the only reason to watch a show. This contradicts the employment strategy of TV stations mentioned in Sheffer and Schultz (2007)'s and Ozsoy (2008)'s studies. Moreover, Akkaya & Kaplan (2015) pointed out that the female body is used to enrich the visuals in sports media, yet the interviews imply that it does not have a permanent effect on male viewers' preferences when it is done through sports casting chair.

Another interesting point is that the findings of this research shows that the male viewers do not like the idea of seeing a woman as a sportscaster. Yet, the broadcasting industry makes a big presumption as if most of the male audience members would be pleased with that situation. There is another strong link to the male hegemony. In a male hegemonic society the dominant group of men oppresses the other men as well as the women living in the same environment (Connell, 1995). So much so, the decision makers think and make preferences on behalf of male viewers.

In order to gain more understanding of where viewers locate female sportscasters, participants were asked about any 'proper' sports for male and female sportscasters. The outcome was really interesting that the term 'proper' shows a serious gender segmentation. Male

sportscasters were found as a good match for almost all kinds of sports, whereas there was less room left for female sportscasters. Some sports such as volleyball, tennis and ice-skating are viewed as feminine based on being less action based or being less challenging and the participants claimed that those sports were a better match for a female sportscaster. This supports Mudrick & Lin (2017)'s finding that volleyball which is considered as a feminine sport is better to be covered by a female journalist whereas football, a masculine sport, would be better reported by a male sports journalist.

Furthermore, the participants' description of appropriate types of sports and voice tones shows the consolidation of stereotypical masculinity and femininity. All these findings reflect the literature that masculinities and femininities are defined and reproduced in sports (Connell, 1995; Messner, 1992). The proper sports for a woman to sportscast theme implies that the male hegemonic environment in sports media keeps gender roles alive and perpetuates the gap between men and women (Schmidt, 2015).

The final theme emerged as 'lack of former/familiar female sportscaster figures'. The interviews suggested a variety of perspectives that perfectly mirrors what Connell (1995, p. 231) says about the hegemonic masculinity in sports that "the male is norm". As stated in Antunovic's (2014) study about the first National Football League (NFL) female referee, it is not enough for a woman to show up in an all-male space to overcome reality of the gender-based prejudice. It still takes time for the attitudes to be normalized. This is also in line with Mudrick et al. (2017) that a woman sportscaster is a socially incongruent figure. It is clear that the masculine ideals are promoted in sports-media, so that the viewers' tastes are established on these ideals. Any woman sportscaster is expected to perform the same standards in order to be successful.

The idea that the female sportscasters have to prove their knowledge and ability to gain a good position reiterates the fact that sports media is not a fair world for females. As mentioned before, male sportscaster is the established norm. Most of the participants are used to male voice tones and they seem rather reluctant to be open for a change. Their opinion in this habit shows a strong trend of normalization of male dominance in sports media.

Besides, the increase in the number of female athletes is something positive for the perception of female sportscasters. In this sense, volleyball is a very promising example. Turkish women's volleyball clubs experienced significant success in international platforms since the early 1980s. It is clear to see the reflection of this success in the audience perception that all of the participants were positive for a female sportscaster broadcasting volleyball.

"Sports have the power to change the world. (...) It laughs in the face of all types of discrimination." Nelson Mandela

Limitations

A possible limitation to consider in this study is that all interviews were conducted by a female researcher. To overcome this possible influence, I tried to warm up the interviews with indirect questions about current sports news. As mentioned before, I found some less educated participants more shy, so I extended their interviews. Although the interviews were fruitful to analyze at the end, there may be still some influence of my gender. So, it may be helpful to consider this possible limitation in future research.

Future Research

This study has confirmed the reflections of male hegemony and domination in sports media.

However, it has also provided hopeful insights that the audience members' perceptions may be

developed in a positive way as there will be more female athletes and more determined female sportscaster figures in the industry. Although the participants seemed to be more conservative about soccer, their thoughts about volleyball support these promising insights. Though not present amongst all of the interviews, some participants expressed their hopes that more women involvement in sports media may smooth the rude masculine wording in some TV shows on soccer.

Secondly, Toro (2005) found out that the female participants in her research were more severe in criticizing female sportscasters than the male participants. It may also be interesting to conduct a similar research with female audience members in Turkey.

Considering all of these findings, it is clear that there is a wide room for future studies to understand the main thoughts and the expectations of the viewers to make the broadcasting industry fairer for female workers.

Appendix A: Interview Questions

- 1. How frequently do you watch sports news and sports-programs on TV?
- 2. Which one is your favorite channel for getting sports news? Why?
- 3. Do you remember the last time you watched a sports news show or a program? Can you tell me what you remember about the sportscaster?
- 4. How much do you think the sportscaster is important for your choice of a TV channel? In what way the sportscaster is important?
- 5. Who is your favorite sportscaster? Can you tell me more about him/her?
- 6. What do you expect from a TV sportscaster? Is your expectation any different for a male and a female sportscaster?
- 7. What do you think when you see a young and attractive female sportscaster on TV?
- 8. How about seeing a young and attractive man as the sportscaster?
- 9. When you consider the gender of the sportscaster, how would you evaluate a female and a male sportscaster in terms of credibility?
- 10. When you think of the sports branch, do you have any kind of appropriate match with a female or a male sportscaster and the type of the sports that they are talking about?
- 11. What do you see as any difference between a female sportscaster presenting sports news and a female sportscaster hosting a show?
- 12. Did you have a chance to watch the soccer game which was play by play announced by Semahat Arslaner on TRT? Even if you did not, how do think about play by play announcement by a woman?

Appendix B: Information About the Participants

Label	Year of Birth	Education
Participant 1	1979	Elementary School
Participant 2	1979	College-Distance Learning
Participant 3	1977	College Drop Out
Participant 4	1975	Secondary School
Participant 5	1983	High School
Participant 6	1983	Secondary School
Participant 7	1950	College Drop Out
Participant 8	1984	College-Distance Learning
Participant 9	1984	College-Distance Learning
Participant 10	1963	Secondary School
Participant 11	1971	College
Participant 12	1987	College-Distance Learning
Participant 13	1962	Secondary School
Participant 14	1972	College
Participant 15	1981	College
Participant 16	1955	Secondary School
Participant 17	1951	College
Participant 18	1984	College
Participant 19	1973	College-Distance Learning
Participant 20	1980	Masters
Participant 21	1969	College

References

- Akkaya, C. & Kaplan, Y. (2014). Women in sports media in the context of gender. *International Journal of Science Culture and Sport*, *2*, 177-182. doi: 10.14486/IJSCS189
- Antunovic, D. (2014). A female in a man's world: New media discourse around the first female NFL referee. *Journal of Sports Media*, *9*(2), 45-71. doi: 10.1353/jsm.2014.0010
- Arat, Y. (2000). From emancipation to liberation: The changing role of women in Turkey's public realm. *Journal of International Affairs*, *54* (1), 107-123.
- Arslan, B. & Koca, C. (2006). Kadin sporcularin yer aldigi gunluk gazete haberlerinin sunum bicimine dair bir inceleme (An examination of representation of women athletes-related articles in daily newspapers). *Spor Bilimleri Dergisi (Hacettepe Journal of Sport Sciences)*, 17(1), 1-10.
- Bakan, O. (2014). Representations of female athletes in Turkish media: A content analysis of three newspapers. *Journal of Research in Gender Studies*, *4*(1), 881-894.
- BBC. (11/13/2009). *BBC Turkce arsivinden: 1940'li yillar*. Retrieved from https://www.bbc.com/turkce/lg/multimedya/2009/11/091113_anni_album_40lar.shtml
- Bird, S. R. (1996). Welcome to the men's club: Homosociality and the maintenance of hegemonic masculinity. *Gender and Society*, *10(2)*, 120-132.
- Bora, T. (2007). Erkeklik ve futbol: Beslik yeme kaygisi. [Masculinity and football: Worrying about giving away a goal]. *Kaos GL*, *32*, 16-17.

- Boyce, C. & Neale, P. (2006). Conducting In-depth interviews: A Guide for Designing and Conducting In-depth Interviews for Evaluation Input. Watertown, MA. Pathfinder International.
- Brann, M., & Himes, K.L. (2010). Perceived credibility of male versus female television newscasters. *Communication Research Reports*, *27(3)*, 243-252. doi: 10.1080/08824091003737869
- Brennen, B. S. (2013). *Qualitative Research Methods for Media Studies*. New York, NY: Routledge
- Britannica. (2018). *Barbara Walters- American journalist*. Retrieved from https://www.britannica.com/biography/Barbara-Walters
- Buyukafsar, M. (2016). Turk Spor Basininda Cinsiyet ayrimciligi: Fotomac ve Fanatik Gazeteleri Ornegi [Gender discrimination in Turkish sports media: The examples of Fotomoac and Fanatik dailies]. *Insan & Insan [Human & Human]*, *3(9)*, 53-76. ISSN:2148-7537
- Caglar, N. (2013). Yerel medyada kadin adaylar (Female candidates in the local media).

 Suleyman Demirel Universitesi Vizyoner Dergisi (Suleyman Demirel University The Journal of Visionary), 4(8), 14-38.
- Cakar, E. (2016, November 21). Turk futbolunun degeri artiyor [The economic value of the Turkish economy is rising]. Retrieved from: https://www.aa.com.tr/tr/futbol/turk-futbolunun-ekonomik-degeri-artiyor/690059

- Calogero, R., Herbozo, S., & Thompson, K. (2009). Complimentary weightism: The potential costs of appearance-rated commentary for women's self-objectification. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 33,* 120-132. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-6402.2008.01479.x
- Candas, A., and Yılmaz, V. (2011). *Inequalities in Turkey: Search for a comprehensive conceptual framework*. Bogazici University Social Policy Forum, Friedrich Ebert Stiftung, TÜSES İstanbul: Bilnet Matbaacılık.
- Cimen, Z. & Ilhan, E. (2007). Spor muhabirlerinin Turk spor medyasinda dogruluk degeri uzerine dusunceleri (Sport reporters' thoughts on ethical code 'Truthfulness' in Turkish sport media). *Beden Egitimi ve Spor Bilimleri Dergisi (Journal of Physical education and sport sciences)*, *9*(2). Retrieved from http://dergipark.gov.tr/ataunibesyo/issue/28857/308715
- Connell R. W. & Messnerschmidt, J. W. (2005). Hegemonic masculinity: Rethinking the concept. *Gender & Society*, 19(6), 829-859. doi: 10.1177/0891243205278639
- Connell, R. (1987). *Gender and power: Society, the person, and sexual politics*. Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press.
- Connell, R. W. (1995). Masculinities. Cambridge, UK: Polity Press.
- Connell, R. W. (1998). Masculinities and globalization. Men & Masculinities, 1(1), 3-23.
- Connell, R. W. (2005). Change among the gatekeepers: Men, masculinities and gender equality in the global arena. *Signs*, *30*(3), 1801-1825.

- Cosar, S. & Yegenoglu, M. (2011). New Grounds for patriarchy in Turkey? Gender policy in the age of AKP. *South European Society and Politics*, 16(4), 555-573. doi: 10.1080/13608746.2011.571919
- Creedon, P. (1994). Women, media and sport: Creating and reflecting gender values. In P. Creedon (Ed.), *Women, media & sport: Challenging gender values* (pp. 3-27). Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- Creswell, J. W. (2013). *Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches*. Los Angeles, CA: SAGE Publications.
- Eastman, S. T. and Billings, A. C. (2000). Sportscasting and sports reporting: The power of gender bias. *Journal of Sport and Social Issues, 24(2)*, 192-213. doi: 10.1177/0193723500242006
- Engin, C. & Pals, H. (2018). Patriarchal attitudes in Turkey 1990-2011: The influence of religion and political conservatism. *Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State & Society, 25(1),* 383-409. doi: 10.1093/sp/jxx021
- Engstorm, E. (1994). Effects of nonfluencies on speaker's credibility in newscast settings. *Perceptual and Motor Skills.* 83(2). 579-588.
- Engstrom, E., & Ferri, A. J. (1998). From barriers to challenges: Career perceptions of women TV news anchors. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 75(4), 789-802.
- Engstrom, E., & Ferri, A. J. (2001). Looking through a gendered lens: Local U.S. television anchors' perceived career barriers. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media, 44*, 614-634.

- Erdogan, I. (2008). Futbol ve futbolu inceleme uzerine (On studying football). *Iletisim ve Kuram Arastirma Dergisi*, 26, 1-58.
- Erhart, I. (2011). Ladies of Besiktas: A Dismantling of Male Hegemony at Inonu Stadium. *International Review for the Sociology of Sport, 48(1)*, 83-98. doi: 10.1177/1012690211427986
- Erhart, I. (2016). Kadinlar Ofsayttan Anlar Mi? Tarihi Karar, Kadin Taraftarlar ve Etiketler [Do women get the offside rules? The historical decision, female fans and labels]. In Koca, C. (Ed.) Sporun Toplumsal Cinsiyet Halleri [The Gendered Status of Sports], (pp. 184-199). Ankara, Spor Yayinevi ve Kitabevi.
- Etling, L. and Young, R. (2007). Sexism and the authoritativeness of female sportscasters.

 Communication Research Reports, 24(2), 121-130. doi: 10.1080/08824090701304816
- Etling, L.W., Young, R.W., Faux, W.V., & Mitchell, J.C. (2011). Just like one of the guys?:

 Perceptions of male and female sportscasters' voices. *Journal of Sports Media*, *6*(2), 1-21. doi:10.1353/jsm.2011.0010
- Fasteau, M. F. (1980). Sports: The Training Ground. In D. F. Sabo & R. Runfola (Eds.), *Jock: Sports & Male Identity (pp:44-53)*. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall.
- Franzoi, S.L., Vasquez, K., Sparapani, E., Frost, K., Martin, J., and Aebly, M. (2012). Exploring body comparison tendencies: Women are self-critical whereas men are self-hopeful.

 *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 36(1), 99-109. doi: 10.1177/0361684311427028

- Fredrickson, B. L. & Roberts, T. A. (1997). Objectification theory: Toward understanding women's lived experiences and mental health risks. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *21*, 173-206.
- Gantz, W., & Wenner, L.A. (1991). Men, women, and sports: Audience experiences and effects. *Journal of Broadcasting & Electronic Media*, 35(2), 233-243. doi:

 10.1080/08838159109364120
- GENAR. (2004). Turk toplumunda futbol algisi arastirmasi [A research on the perception of football in Turkish society]. Retrieved from www.genar.com.tr/download/2004-
 %20HAZIRAN-turk-toplumunda-futbol-algisi.pdf
- Giorgi, K. (2014). *Emotions, Language and Iddentity on the Matgins of Europe*. Palgrave Macmillan.
- Gole, N. (1991). Modern Mahrem: Medeniyet ve Örtünme (The forbidden modern: Civilization and veiling), Istanbul, Metis.
- Grabe, M. E., & Samson, L. (2011). Sexual cues emanating from the anchorette chair:

 Implications for perceived professionalism, fitness for beat, and memory for news.

 Communication Research, 38(4), 471-496. doi: 10.1177/0093650210384986
- Gramsci, A., In Hoare, Q., & In Nowell-Smith, G. (1971). Selections from the prison notebooks of Antonio Gramsci. New York: International Publishers.
- Guion, L., Diehl, D. & McDonald, D. (2011). Triangulation: Establishing the Validity of Qualitative Studies. http://edis.ifas.ufl.edu/fy394.

- Guler, L. & Demir, V. (1995). Spor ve medya iliskisi ve Turkiye'de spor medyasi [The sports and media relationship and the sports media in Turkey]. *Marmara Iletisim Dergisi*, *9*, 285-306.
- Hardin, M. and Shain, S. (2005). Female sports journalists: Are we there yet? 'No'. *Newspaper Research Journal*, 26(4), 22-35.
- Harris, D. V. (1980). Femininity and athleticism: Conflict or consonance? In D. F. Sabo & R. Runfola (Eds.), *Jock: Sports and male identity* (pp. 222-239). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Jewkes, R. & Morrell, R. (2012). Sexuality and the limits of agency among South African teenage women: theorizing femininities and their connections to HIV risk practices.

 Social Science and Medicine, 74(11), 1729-1737. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.05.020.
- Jewkes, R., Morrell, R., Hearn, J., Lundqvist, E., Blackbeard, D., Lindegger, G., Quayle, M., Sikweyiya, Y., & Gottzén, L. (2015). Hegemonic masculinity: combining theory and practice in gender interventions. *Culture, Health & Sexuality, 17(2)*, 112-127. doi: 10.1080/13691058.2015.1085094
- Kabasakal, H., Aycan, Z., & Karakas, F. (2004). Women in management in Turkey. In Davidson, M. and Burke, R.J. (Eds), *Women in Management Worldwide: Facts, Figures and Analysis* (pp. 273-293), Ashgate, Aldershot.
- Kagitcibasi, C. (1986). Status of women in Turkey: Cross-cultural perspectives. *International Journal of Middle Eastern Studies*, 18, 485-499.

- Kandiyoti, D. (1995). Patterns of Patriarchy: Notes for an analysis of male dominance in Turkish society. In S. Tekeli (Ed.), *Women in Modern Turkish Society* (pp. 306-319). London: Zed Books.
- Kane, M.J. and Greendorfer, S.L. (1994). The media's role in accommodating and resisting stereotyped images of women in sport. In P. Creedon, (Ed.), *Women, media and sport:*Challenging gender values (pp. 28-44). Thousands Oaks, CA; Sage.
- Kvale, S. (1996). *InterViews: An Introduction to Qualitative Research Interviewing*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Leahey, T. M., Crowther, J. H., & Mickelson, K. D. (2007). The frequency, nature and effects of naturally occurring appearance-focused social comparisons. *Behavior Therapy*, *38*, 132-143.
- Messner, M. & Sabo, D. (1990). Sport, Men and the Gender Order: Critical Feminist Perspectives. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics Publishers.
- Messner, M. A. (1988). Sport and male domination: The female athlete as contested ideological terrain. Sociology of Sport Journal, 5, 136-153.
- Messner, M. A. (1992). *Power at play: Sports and the problem of masculinity*. Boston, MA: Beacon Press.
- Messner, M. A. (2012). Reflections on communication and sport: On men and masculinities.

 Communication & Sport, 1(1/2), 113-124. doi: 10.1177/2167479512467977
- Miller, P. and Miller, R. (1995). The invisible woman: Female sports journalists in the workplace. *Journalism and Mass Communication Quarterly*, 72(4), 883.

- Mora, N. (2014). Reproduction of patriarchal hegemony in media texts. *Electronic Journal of Social Sciences*. *13(48)*, 131-147. ISSN: 1304-0278
- Mudrick, M. & Lin, C. A. (2017). Looking on from the sideline: Perceived role congruity of women sports journalists. *Journal of Sports Media*, 12(2), 79-101.
- Mudrick, M., Burton, L. & Lin, C. A. (2017). Pervasively offside: An examination of sexism, stereotypes, and sportscaster credibility. *Communication & Sport*, *5*(*6*), 669-688. doi: 10.1177/2167479516670642
- Muehlenkamp, J. & Saris-Baglama, R. (2002). Self-objectification and its psychological outcomes for collage women. *Psychology of Women Quarterly*, *26*, 371-379.
- Naison, M. (1980). Sports, women, and the ideology of domination. In D. Sabo & R. Runfola (Eds.), *Jock: Sports and male identity* (p. 30-36). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Newhagen, J., & Nass, C. (1989). Differential criteria for evaluating credibility of newspapers and TV news. *Journalism Quarterly*. 66(2). 277-284.
- NPR. (3/16/2010). "First women" open doors for future generations. Retrieved from https://www.npr.org/templates/story/story.php?storyId=124737770
- NTV (2015). *Ntv Spor Kunye*. Retreived from http://www.dogusyayingrubu.com.tr/Markalarimiz/Televizyon/ntv-spor on 03.06.2015.
- Oakley, A. (1981). Interviewing Women: A contradiction in terms. In Helen Roberts (Ed.), *Doing Feminist Research*. London: Routledge.
- Oehlhof, M. E. W., Musher-Eizenman, D.R., Neufeld, J. M. & Hauser, J. C. (2009). Self-objectification and ideal body shape for men and women. *Body Image*, *6*, 308-310.

- Ordman, V. L. and Zillmann, D. (1994). Women sports reporters: Have they caught up? *Journal of Sport and Social Issues*, 18(1), 66-75. doi: 10.1177/019372394018001005
- Owen, W. F. (1984). Interpretive themes in relational communication. *Quarterly Journal of Speech*, 70, 274-287
- Ozbey, S. & Guzel, P. (2011). Olimpik hareket ve kadin (Olympic movement and women).

 *Balikesir Universitesi Sosyal Bilimler Enstitusu Dergisi 14(25), 1-18.
- Ozsoy, S. (2008). Turk spor medyasinda kadin (Female sports journalists in Turkey). *Spor Bilimleri Dergisi (Hacettepe Journal of Sport Sciences, 19(4),* 201-219.
- Ozsoy, S. (2011). Spor basini acisindan Turkiye'de 1950'den gunumuze Milliyet Gazetesi'nde yasanan degisim. (Changes in Milliyet Newspaper according to sports press in Turkey from 1950 till today). *Selcuk Iletisim (Journal of Selcuk Communication)*, 7(1), 212-221. ISSN: 2148-2942
- Ozsoy, S. (2014). Gazetelerin spor sayfalarinda dil kullanimi (Use of language in newspapers' sports pages). AIBU Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi, 14(1), 295-307.
- Ozturk. F., Ince, G., Zulkadiroglu, Z., & Sahin, M. (1996). Günlük gazetelerde sporun yer alışı [The coverage of sports in daily newspapers]. *Spor Bilimleri Dergisi*, 7(2), 24 32.
- Pamuk, Şevket (2008), "Economic Change in Twentieth Century Turkey: Is the Glass More than Half Full?" in R. Kasaba (ed.), *Cambridge History of Modern Turkey*, 2008, pp. 266-300.
- Painter, C. and Ferrucci, P. (2012). Unprofessional, ineffective and weak: A textual analysis of the portrayal of female journalists on Sports Night. *Journal of Mass Media Ethics*. 27, 248-262. doi: 10.1080/08900523.2012.746107

- Roberts, T. & Gettman, J. Y. (2004). Mere exposure: gender differences in the negative effects of priming a state of self-objectification. *Sex Roles*, *51*, 17-27.
- RTUK. Radyo Televizyon Ust Kurulu. (2013). 2013 yili arastirmalari Televizyon izleme egilimileri arastirmasi 3 [Researches of 2013- Television watching tendencies 3].

 Retrieved from https://www.rtuk.gov.tr/rtuk-kamuoyu-arastirmalari/3890/5232/televizyon-izleme-egilimleri-arastirmasi-3-2013.html
- Schmidt, H. C. (2015) "Still a boys club": Perspectives on female sports and sports reporters in university student newspapers. *Qualitative Research Reports in Communication*, 16(1), 65-74. doi: 10.1080/17459435.2015.1086422
- Schoch, L. and Ohl, F. (2011). Women sports journalists in Switzerland: between assignment and negotiation of roles. *Sociology of Sport Journal.* 28, 189-208.
- Seidman, S. A. (1999). Revisiting sex role stereotyping in MTV videos. *International Journal of Instructional Media*, 26, 11-22.
- Sheffer, M. L. and Schultz, B. (2007). Double standard: Why women have trouble getting jobs in local television sports. *Journal of Sports Media*. 2, 77-101. doi: 10.1353/jsm.0.0005
- Talimciler, A. (2017). Futbol taraftarligindaki erkeklik imgesi (Image of masculinity in Soccer Fandom the case of Bucaspor, Goztepe and Karsiyaka fans). *Journal of Social Sciences and Humanities*. *1*(1), 27-57.
- TDGSW. Turkish Directorate General on the Status of Women. (2008). *Gender equity national movement plan 2008-2013*. Retrieved from

- https://kadininstatusu.aile.gov.tr/uploads/pages/toplumsal-cinsiyet-esitligi-ulusal-eylem-plani/ulusal-eylem-planini-gormek-icin-tiklayiniz.pdf
- TFF. Turkish Football Federation (2005). Futbol kamuoyu arastirmasi [Public opinion research on football]. Istanbul: TFF Yayinlari.
- Tiggemann, M. & Lynch, J. E. (2001). Body image across the life span in adult women: The role of sel-objectification. Developmental Psychology, 37(2), 243-253. doi: 10.1037/0012-1649.37.2.243.
- Toro, H. M. (2005). *Public Perceptions of Credibility of Male and Female Sportscasters*, unpublished thesis, Master of Arts in Communication, Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University
- TRT. (2018). TRT'nin Ilk Acilis Anonsu. Retrieved from https://www.trtarsiv.com/izle/77827/trt-nin-ilk-acilis-anonsu
- Turkstat. (Turkish Statistical Institute). (2018). Istatistiklerle kadin 2017 [Women in statistics 2017]. Retrieved from http://www.tuik.gov.tr/PreHaberBultenleri.do?id=27594
- UNESCO. (2018). Institute for Statistics. *Turkey- Literacy Rate*. Retrieved from http://uis.unesco.org/country/TR
- Weforum. (2017). World economic Forum. *The global gender gap report in 2017*. Retrieved from https://www.weforum.org/reports/the-global-gender-gap-report-2017
- Weibel, D., Wissmath, B., & Groner, R. (2008). How gender and age affect newscasters' credibility- An investigation in Switzerland. *Journal of Broadcasting and Electronic Media*. *52* (3). 466-484. DOI: 10.1080/08838150802205801

WMC Women Media Center (2017). *The status of women in the US media 2017*. Retrieved from http://www.womensmediacenter.com/assets/site/reports/10c550d19ef9f3688f_mlbres2jd.pdf

HAMIDE DEMET AKAT

demetmi@gmail.com

hdakat@syr.edu

Professional Experience

- Speaker/Anchor Turkish Radio Television, TRT (Jan 2009 Sep 2016)
- Anchor Ekonomi Ajandasi, Daily TV Show, TRT NEWS (Apr 2010 Jun 2011)
- Moderator Ekonomi Kulubu, Weekly Prime Time TV Show, TRT NEWS (Feb 2011
 Sep 2011)
- Anchor Sosyal Guvenlik, Weekly Prime Time TV Show, TRT NEWS (Jan 2013 -Mar 2013)
- Anchor Ozel Gundem, Weekly TV Show on Economics, TRT NEWS (Dec 2012 Aug 2013)
- Producer Babiali Yokusu'ndan, Daily News Radio Show (Oct 2015 Jan 2016)
- Anchor Basin Ekspres, Daily News Radio Show (Jan 2016 Jul 2016)

Education

- Syracuse University, Newhouse School of Public Communications, Media Studies (MA, 2018)
- Bogazici University, Department of Economics (BA, 2006)
- Amasya Anatolian High School (2000)

Interested fields

- Viewers' Perceptions of Female TV figures
- Media Representation of LGBT people in Muslim Countries
- State-run Media vs Freedom of Press

Certifications

• Wharton Seminars for Business Journalists, Philadelphia 2011

Awards

- The Best TV Show, Ekonomi Ajandasi, 2011, EGD Association of Economics Journalists
- The Donald T. Sheehan International Scholarship to the Wharton Seminars for Business Journalists, 2011
- The Best TV Show, Ekonomi Kulubu, 2012, MUSIAD The Independent Industrialists' and Businessmen's Association

Languages

- Proficiency in English
- Native in Turkish

Personal

- Born in Turkey, 1983
- Married and Mother of Three